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XEROX INVESTMENTS EUROPE B.V.
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

1. ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

The Durectors present the Annual Accounts of Xerox Investments Europe B V
registered number 33302868 and subsidianies (the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2012 Xerox Investments Europe B.V (heremnafter referred to as the
“Company”) is the uliumate European holding company owned by Xerox Corporation of
the USA (heremnafter referred to as the “Corporation”) The Group promotes the full
range of Xerox products and services, working with Xerox Corporation to deliver our
growth mmitiatives — accelerating the transition to colour, building on our leadership 1n
end-to-end document management services, and expanding our distribution channels

The reported operating profit was €81m (2011 €193 m) for the financial year The net
profit after tax was €97m (2011. €201m)

2. BUSINESS SUMMARY REVIEW

Xerox Corporation

Xerox Corporation 1s a $22 4 billion (€€17 4 billion) revenue worldwide technology and
services enterprise and a leader in the global document market, developing,
manufacturing, marketing, servicing and financing the industry's broadest portfolio of
document equipment, solutions and services

For the 2012 reporting year Xerox Corporation reported diluted earnings per share of
$0.88 in 1ts SEC filings (2011 $0.90)

For further information about Xerox Corporation please refer to the Xerox Investor
Relations website at www xerox.com

Xerox Investments Europe Group turnover and results

General

Reported revenue for the year to 31 December 2012 of €6,769m, operations increased by
1192% year on year, reflecting the full year inclusion of Canada and Brazil acquired
during 2011. Third party equipment revenues of €1,161m grew by 3 8% compared to
2011. Sold Equipment Service revenue of €1,351m grew by 5 2% from 2011 levels
Gross margins declined to 27 2% compared to prior year 28 6%, reflecting the lower
margins earned on services activities Selling and general expenses are higher than 2011
by €223m reflecting an increase administrative expenses of €67m, our royalties and
other charges from Xerox Corporation increased by €37m, there was a €53m ncrease in
restructuring and re-organisation cost due to charges booked 1n 2012, and goodwill and
intangible amortisation mncreased by €29m reflecting the full year mclusion of
acquisitions during 2011

Reported operating profit was €81m (2011: €193m), after charging goodwill and
mtangible amortisation of €213m (2011, €184m) Excluding the effect of goodwill and
mtangibles the underlying operational result for 2012 was a profit of €294m (2011:
€377m) At the operating profit level, the decrease of €112m 1s caused by the increase in
gross profits of €111m being exceeded by the increase 1n selling and general expenses of
€223m
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Manufactunng Operations

The Group has manufacturing and logistics operations i Ireland, the UK, Canada,
Brazil, and the Netherlands, and a research and development facility (Xerox Research
Centre Europe) 1n Grenoble, France

There 15 an established process whereby purchases of spares and consumables from
Flextronics, a global electronics manufacturing services company, are procured via the
Singapore group Additionally, equipment, spares and consumables for other contract
manufactuning vendors follow this same process  As part of the global procurement
model 1n the Asia region, a second entity, ‘XC Global Trading BV’, via 1ts branch i
Singapore, procures from orngmal equipment manufacturers This activity continues to
expand as we bring more of our vendors onto this process

Thas 1s the sixth year of a master supply agreement with Flextromics Flextronics must
acquire mventory in anticipation of meeting our forecasted requirements and must
maintain sufficient manufacturing capacity to satisfy those requirements Xerox may
become obligated to purchase inventory that remains unused for more than 180 days,
that becomes obsolete, or upon termination of the supply agreement Activity levels at
the Dundalk manufacturing plant 1n Ireland for 2012 were consistent with forecast
Activities i Venray, the Netherlands, did not significantly change from the previous
year For the Supply Chain the relationship with our mamn service providers DSV and
ND log:stics was continued Toner manufacturing activities at Venray continued under
the direct management of Xerox staff In all areas there was a continuing drive to reduce
cost and mmprove efficiency 1n all aspects of the operations including optimisauon of
production, supply chain and admimstrational processes through the use of continual
improvement tools Some central support staff activities continue at the Mitcheldean
facility 1n the UK.

Customer Financing Activities

The long-term viability and profitability of the Group’s financing activities 1s dependent,
in part, on the ability to borrow and the cost of borrowing 1n the credit markets, which is
n turn determined by Xerox Corporation’s credit ratings. The Corporation is currently
rated investment grade by all of the major rating agencies

The Group’s ability to continue to offer customer financing 1s largely dependent upon the
Group’s ability to obtain funding at a reasonable cost erther directly from the capital
markets or via Xerox Corporation. If the Group were to be unable to continue to offer
customer financing, 1t could have a matenal adverse umpact on 1ts operational results and
financial condition

Credit facility. At December 31, 2012, there were no outstanding borrowings or letters
of credit under the Xerox Corporation faciity The credit facility 1s available without
sublimit to quahfying subsidianes of Xerox Corporation Obligations under the credit
facility are unsecured and not currently guaranteed by any subsidiary The credit facility
1s subject to various financial maintenance covenants and default provisions expressed as
ratios of the consolidated balance sheet of Xerox Corporation Borrowings under the
facility bear interest — at the Corporation’s choice - either at a base rate (defined mn the
agreement) plus an all 1n spread varying between 0 00% and 0 45% dependent upon the
Corporation’s credit rating or LIBOR plus an all in spread varying between 0.90% and
1.45% Based upon credit ratings at 31* December 2012, the applicable all 1n spreads
were 0 175% for base rate and 1.175% for LIBOR

Capital markets offerings and other During 2012, the Corporation exchanged 5 71%
Zero Coupon Notes due 2023 at book value of $303 mullion, for $362 mullion of its
4 50% Senior Notes due 2021 This increased the value of 4 5% Semor Notes due 2021

from $700 mullion to $1062 million During 2012 the Corporation 1ssued $600
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mullion of Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2013 and $500 million of 2 95% Senior Notes
due 2017. The 1ssuance of these Senior Notes have deferred the 1ssuance cost of $6
million

Loan covenants and compliance At December 31, 2012, Xerox Corporation and all
relevant subsidiaries were n full compliance with the covenants and other provisions of
the Credit Facuity, the Semior Notes and the Loan Agreement Failure to be mn
comphance with any matenal provision or covenant of these agreements could have a
material adverse effect on hiquidity and operations and on Xerox’ ability to continue to
fund customers’ purchase of Xerox equipment

Third Party Equipment Financing Agreements

The Group provide equipment financing to the majority of its customers Because the
finance leases allow customers to pay for equipment over time rather than at the date of
installation, the group maintain a certain level of debt to support our investment in these
customer finance leases Xerox Corporation currently funds its customer financmng
activity through cash generated from operations, cash on hand, borrowings under bank
credit facilities, and proceeds from capital markets offerings

Capital Contribution and Dwidend

The company did not receive capital contributions during the year In 2012 the Company
did not pay a dividend (2011 €75m) to Xerox Corporation

Investments

In 2012 subsidiartes of the Company acqmred Wireless Data Services a
telecommunication technical support and consultancy firm headquartered 1n the UK, XL
World a multi-lingual customer care firm based 1n Italy, Laser Network Inc. a provider of
MPS solutions that include print device tracking, centralized service and supply
management and document routing with headquarters 1n Canada, Green Imaging Supplies
Inc Wholesale Office Supplies based in Canada, Voice Star Sh.p.k, and Eagle Connect
Sh p k, based 1n Albania Total cost of acquisition was €46m

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group 1s exposed to market risk from foreign currency exchange rates and interest
rates, which could affect operating results, financial position and cash flows The Group
has in place nsk management processes that seek to limt the adverse effects on its
financial performance by momnitoring levels of debt, liquidity, and exchange rate nisk and
the related financial costs The Treasury Operations department works closely with its
counterpart in Xerox Corporation, using forward exchange contracts to manage currency
rnisk for dividends receivable from non-sterling subsidianies and associates, and for
payments to related parties in Japanese Yen and US Dollars n respect of goods and
services purchased and technology related royalies Group policy with regard to
financial derivative instruments 1s to deal only with counterparties having a minimum
wnvestment grade or better credit ratings

General risk The Group 1s active in highly competitive and geographically diverse
markets In addition to competitive pressures from competing technologies and
companies, the Group 1s affected by macro-economic pressures in the markets in which it
or 1its dealers and distributors are operating. There are also socio-political factors affecting
market performance in specific geographies such as the ‘Arab Spnng’ in Egypt and the
constraints on government spending across Europe

Price risk: The majority of the goods and services sold by the Group are provided from
its own resources or are bought in from related parties Processes exist to provide
adequate forewarning of any changes 1n transfer pricing levels Transfer pricing levels
can be subject to perniodic review by national Tax Authorities
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Credit risk: The Group has implemented policies that require appropriate credit checks
on potential customers before sales are made Credit nisk 1s managed through the
continucus monitoring of exposures

Liquidity risk: Funding for the Company 1s through inter-company arrangements

Interest rate cash flow risk: The Group has no significant interest bearing assets or
interest bearing habilities with third parties Interest 1s charged based on commercial rate
on rolling monthly or quarterly balances with other affiliated compames Xerox
Corporation manages all sigmficant relationships with the external debt market

Continuing Developments

The 2013 priontes and plans of Xerox Corporation are to accelerate growth in Services
busmess while mmproving Services margins, mamntan Jeadership in Document
Technology and continue to enhance operational excellence Xerox’ business process and
IT outsourcing busmnesses are expandmng around the world Through its diversified
portfolio, Xerox needs to be diligent about picking up the pace and prioritizing sales
engagement and investments mn those areas where its well positioned to win The XIE
BV Group will need to focus on delivering growth in print-related markets that are
expanding, such as serving more small and mid-size businesses through indirect channels,
as well as mamntaimng profitable leadership in the marketplace. Its investments in
enhancing the workplace, revenue growth combined with cost containment 1s the simple
formula that helps deliver on these expectations In 2013 the Group expects that revenue
pressures will continue 1n the core business especially as government spending in Europe
continues to be constraned The Group’s ability to protect gross margins will be
dependent upon exchange rate fluctuations against the currencies of its suppliers — chiefly
US Dollars and Japanese Yen The primary focus of the Group will be on cash
generation and maintaining strict cost controls Cash balances increased by €206m over
2011 including currency 1mpacts to close with €848m and the ratio of current assets to
current liabilities worsened to 2.0 from 2 3 1n 2011 Capital investment will be restricted
to the mimimum level necessary to renew assets reaching the end of their useful lives,
other than expenditure 1 revenue generating applications

The Group constantly strives to balance manpower requirements agamnst the prevailing
market condittons

FINANCING

The Group's financing 1s largely dependent on the financing arrangements of Xerox
Corporation As at 31 December 2012, Xerox Corporation reported cash and cash
equivalents of $1 2 billion (2011 $0 9 billion) Xerox Corporation’s debt facilities have
already been explained under ‘Customer Financing activities’ Xerox Corporation
manages its financing arrangements on a global basis, accordingly, the Group’s funding
requirements are dependent on the above credrt facilities

The Group's third party debt was €7 million (2011 €3 mullion) Cash was €0 8 billion
(2011 €0 6 billion) The Group’s debt (including intergroup debt with Xerox Corporation
and 1ts affiliates) to equity ratio was 31% compared to the 2011 level of 28%

RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY

Xerox Corporation's worldwide research and technology development focuses on five
key areas research and technology, product development and engineering support,
intellectual property management, business development for licensing and new business
opportunities, and business unit operations It also develops technology and business
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concepts to enable growth opportunities in new markets

Part of the Office Product Delivery Unit {OPDU) 1s based 1n Welwyn Garden City (UK)
and designs and develops multifunction products for Xerox worldwide markets OPDU
1s part of a larger multinational organisation within the Corporation carrying out the
design, development and systems integration of a full range of multifunction products In
2011 this work has been outsourced to HCL and will draw upon their team of
professional engineers, scientists, systems and software engineers

4. GROUP RESOURCES AND EMPLOYEES

The Group Resources function 1s ahigned to support the Group’s orgamisation of
geographic regions, busmness groups and shared services International centres of
competence cover the key areas of Human Resources Strategy, Programmes, Total Pay,
and Education and Learning In particular the function focuses on developing high
potential employees and ensuring senior management are fully equipped to manage our
changing environment with the behaviours and attitudes expected of Xerox executives

It 15 Xerox’s policy to create a working environment that reflects the changing make-up
of talent and diversity in the commumties 1n which 1t operates, and where people are
judged solely on their ability, competency and performance

Group Resources aims to add value to the business through enabling management to
capitalise on the diverse talents and abilities of all employees, to maximise each
mdividual’s potential to achieve the corporate goals, and also to provide a working
environment that 1s free from unfair and unlawful discrimination and harassment

5GOING CONCERN

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. In preparing
these financial statements, the Directors have assessed that the Group will continue 1n
operational existence for the foreseeable future

6. DIRECTORS

The Directors shown on page 3 were 1n office on 31 December 2012 Mr Kabureck
resigned as a Director effective 1** Apnl 2013 and was replaced by Mr. Mancim on the
same date During 2012 a new law was enacted 1n the Netherlands: ‘Wet Bestuur en
Toezicht” This law aims at reaching a more balanced representation between the sexes
in the composition of Company Executive and Supervisory Boards The Company 1s
fully comphiant with the law’s objective of at least 30% female representation within each
of the boards as one of the three current board members 1s female
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Breukelen, 27 September, 2013
The Board of Drrectors,

JH Mancini
Member of the Board of Directors

R.K P Martens
Member of the Board of Directors

S IMG Poels
Member of the Board of Directors
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XEROX INVESTMENTS EUROPE B.V.
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

2012 2011

Note €m €m €m €m
Revenue 7 6,769 6,048
Cost of revenue (4,928) (4,318)
Gross operating profit 1,841 1,730
Selling expenses 9 (663) (638)
General and administrative expenses 9 (1,097 (899)
Total expenses (1,760) (1,537)
Operating profit 81 193
Gain on disposal of assets 10 2 2
Financial result 11 - 10)
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 83 185
Tax on profit from ordinary activities 12 (97) (93)
Share of profit of associates 15(1) 116 113
Profit on ordinary activities after tax 102 205
Minority Interest (5 (4)
Net Profit 97 201
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XEROX INVESTMENTS EUROPE B.V.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2012
(after proposed appropriation of result)

2012 2011
Note €m €m €m €m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 1,398 1,536
Property, plant and equipment 14 723 742
Financial assets 15 2,670 2,867
Total non-current assets 4,791 5,145
Current assets
Stocks 16 313 305
Receivables 17 2,314 2,237
Cash 18 848 642
Total current assets 3,475 3,184
Current liabilities
Short term debt 19 403 16
Other current liabilities 20 1,373 1,390
Total current liabilities 1,776 1,406
Total current assets less current liabilities 1,699 1,778
Total assets less current liabilities 6,490 6,923
Long term debt 19 896 1,223
Other non-current liabilities 21 180 217
Total non-current liabilities 1,076 1,440
Provisions 22 1,259 1,062
Group equity
Shareholder's equity 4,106 4,371
Minority interest 49 50
Total Group equity 4,155 4,421
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XEROX INVESTMENTS EUROPE B.V.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 2012

2012 2011
€m €m €m €m
Operating activities
Operating profit 81 193
Adjustments for
Depreciation 187 145
Amortisation of goodwill and intangibles 213 184
Movements in working capital
(Increase) / decrease 1n recervables &) 191
(Increase) 1n stocks (13) (13)
Increase in creditors and provisions 160 134
Decrease / (increase) n finance lease receivables 144 (34)
(Increase) in Other Assets (291) (108)
Cash flow from working capital (3) 170
Cash flow from operations 478 692
Interest paid (13) as
Interest received 13 5
Taxes paid (92) (68)
Cash flow from operating activities 386 614
Investing activities
Acqusition of subsidiaries (42) {(80)
Investment 1n property, plant and equipment (149) oD
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2 2
Cash flow used in investing activities (189 (169)
Financing activities
Increase / (decrease) mn short term debt (note 25) 373 (773)
(Decrease) /increase n long term debt (note 25) {359 843
Dividends to Mmnority Interests 6) (6)
Bividends to Parent Company - (75)
Cash flow from / (used in ) financing activities 8 {an
Net increase in cash in period 205 434
Cash at beginning of period 642 200
Exchange differences 1 8
Cash at ending of period 848 642
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Notes to the consolidated annual accounts

1. General Information

1.1.General

Xerox Investments Europe B V (herewnafter referred to as “the Company™) has its
statutory seat in Amsterdam, The Netherlands. The Company and its subsidianes,
outlined in note 33, are referred to as “the Group”

The Company’s parent company 1s Xerox Corporation, which 1s incorporated in the
United States of America Copties of the Xerox Corporation Annual Report and Accounts
may be obtained from The Investor Relations Department, Xerox Corporation, Norwalk
World Headquarters, 45 Glover Avenue, Norwalk, Connecticut 06850, USA
(www xerox.com)

Xerox Corporation’s Annual Report (Form 10-K) has been filed with the Secunties and
Exchange Commission (Www sec gov)

1.2 Actwities

The business of the Group and 1ts associates 1s to offer an array of innovative document
solutions, services and systems - including colour and black-and-white pnnters,
multifunction devices and digital copiers - designed for offices and production-printing
environments, as well as offering associated supplies, software and support. The
business of the Group also covers leasing, research, development, manufacture and
maintenance of document systems, solutions and services.

Document systems, solutions and services encompasses a wide range of colour and
monochrome Production and Office products, categonised by primary function capability
including printing, copying, faxing and scanning Production includes advanced digital
printers and copiers for high volume printing and publishing solutions, while Office
includes multi-functional machines, printers, copiers and fax

1 3. Going Concern

These annual accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis In preparing these
financial statements, the Directors have assessed that the Company will continue 1n
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

1.4 Group structure

The Company has four major wholly owned subsidianes, Xerox Holdings (Ireland)
Limited, Xerox UK Holdings Limited, Xerox Canada and Xerox Brazil In addition,
subsidiaries of the Company purchased Wireless Data Services Limited group, Voice
Star, Eagle Connect, XLW, Laser Network and Green Imaging Supplies

The Group obtains the majority of its revenues from its trading activities in Western
Europe, through its mdirect subsidiary Xerox Limited The Group alse operates the
Dublin-based centralised European Customer Welcome Support Centre, centralised
European Shared Financial Services organisation and the Dundalk-based manufacturing
facility through 1ts indirect subsidiary, Xerox Europe Limited

Xerox UK Holdings Limted, via its indirect subsidiary Xerox Manufacturing
{Nederland) B.V. operates manufacturing plant in the Netherlands Xerox Limited also
acts as a holding company for Xerox Corporation’s interests in Europe and parts of
Africa and Asia

Xerox Investments Enrope B,V - 2012 Annual Report 15




15 Business combinations

Common control

Where companies are acquured from related parties, the predecessor accounting basis 1s
applied to capture the net assets of the acquired compantes at the carrying values used in
the consolidated reporting of the mutual parent company Where the purchase value
differs from the net asset carrying value thus denived, the difference 1s taken to equity

Third party acquisitions

Where compames are acquired from third parties, purchase accounting 1s applied and
the excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the net assets acquired 1s
treated as goodwill.

16 Consolidation principles

The consolidation includes the financial data of the Xerox Investments Europe BV
(“Company”) and 1ts Group companies (‘Group’) Group companies are those holdings
with which Company forms a financial and orgamisational entity and in which the
Company exercises direct or indirect control Group companies are consolidated mn full,
after elimnation of intra-group transactions and the profits thereon. The share of third
parties 1n the Group result and Group equity 1s stated separately as minority interest

Results of companies or groups acquired are included in the Consolidated Profit and
Loss Account from the date of acquisition Since the income statement of XIE B V. 1s
included in the consolidated financial statements, an abridged income statement has been
disclosed in the Company financial statements 1n accordance with Section 402, Book 2
of the Netherlands Civil Code

1 7 Related-party transactions
All group companies mentioned in note 1 4 above and the associates mentioned 1n note
3.4 below are considered to be related parties

Intercompany transactions are elimmated n the consolidation. The parent company
Xerox Corporation also qualifies as a related party Where compares are acquired from
related parties, the predecessor accounting basis 1s applied

1 8 Cash flow statement

The cash flow statement has been prepared applymng the indirect method The cash and
cash equivalents in the cash flow statement consists of cash at banks. Cash flows i
foreign currencies have been translated at estimated average exchange rates Exchange
differences affecting cash items are shown separately 1n the cash flow statement Income
and expenses in respect of interest, dividends received and taxation on profits are
included 1n the cash flow from operating activities Dividends paid have been included
in the cash flow from financing activities

1.9. Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and labilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and habilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period

Esumates are used for, but not himuted to- allocation of revenues and fair values n
multiple element arrangements; accounting for residual values; economic hives of leased
assets, allowance for doubtful accounts, mnventory valuation, restructuring charges, asset
impairments, depreciable lives of assets, useful lives of intangible assets and goodwall;
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and pension assumptions.

The accounting estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements will change
as new events occur, as more experience 1s acquired, as additional information 1s obtained
and as the Group’s operating environment changes Actual results could differ from those
estimates

Accounting principles used in preparing the financial statements

21 General

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared i accordance with the
statutory provisions of Part 9, Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code and the fum
pronouncements 1n the Dutch Accounting Standards for Annuat Reporting as issued by
the Dutch Accounting Standards Board The financial statements are denominated in
Euros

In general, assets and habilities are stated at the amounts at which they were acquired or
mcurred, or farr value If not specifically stated otherwise, they are recogmised at the
amounts at which they were acquired or incurred The balance sheet, income statement
and cash flow statement include references to the notes.

2 2. Prior-year comparison
The principles of valuation and determination of results remain unchanged compared to
prior year.

2 3. Functional Currency

Items included in the annual accounts of group companies are measured using the
currency of the prnimary economic environment in which the respective company
operates (the functional currency) Non-functional currency transactions in the reporting
period are translated into functional currency of the individual group company at the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Assets and liabilities
denominated 1n non-functional currencies are translated into functional currency at the
exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange gamns and losses arising
from the settlement of such transactions and from re-measurement to balance sheet date
exchange rates are recogrused 1n the income statement except when deferred 1n equity as
qualifying hedges The financial statements are presented mn Euros, which is the
functional and presentation currency of the Company

2.4 Translation of foreign currencies

On consolidation, balance sheets of individual subsidiaries that are denommated in
foreign currencies are translated into Furos at the closing exchange rates for the
reporting period Profit and loss 1tems are translated at the average exchange rates for the
reporting period Translation differences, which principally represent the gain or loss
anising on net assets denominated in foreign currencies as a result of changes in
exchange rates during the period, are charged against or added directly to equity, within
the Cumulative Translation Adjustment 1n other reserves

Monetary assets and habilities denominated 1n foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at year-end exchange rates are recognised 1n the income statement, except
when deferred 1n equity as qualifying hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary assets held at cost are recogmsed using the
exchange rates (or approximated rates) prevailing at the dates of the transactions which
created the assets
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3. Accounting principles for the Balance sheet

3 1. Intangible assets

Goodwill, which 1s determined at the time of acqusition as the amount paid in excess of
Group's share in the net assets of the companies or groups acquired, 1s capitalised and 15
amortised over a period of 7 to 20 years dependent upon the specific circumstances
pertainung to the acqusition The most recent acquisitions are amortised over a period of
7 to 10 years, reflecting the regeneration of business income from the acquired assets

3 2 Other Intangible assets

Other purchased intangible assets, such as the mstalled customer base, trademarks and
copyrights, customer contract assets, and non-compete agreements are amortised over a
hfe appropriate to the nature of the asset acquired Please refer to note 3.5 below for
details on determining whether an intangible asset 1s impawred

3 3 Property, plant and equipment

These are carmmed at historic cost including expenses directly attributable to acquiring the
items and adjusted for depreciation, on a straight-line basis, at rates intended to write off
the cost, less estimated residual value, over the estimated useful economic life of the
respective assets, as follows

Freehold land not depreciated

Freehold buildings 50 years

Leasehold land and buildings shorter of remaining lease term and
expected useful life of the asset

Dilapidations costs on leased assets over the term of the lease under which the
dilapidations costs arise

Plant, machinery and tooling 5-12 years

Fixtures, fittings and equipment 3-20 years

Rental equipment 2-5 years

Capitalised Software 3-7 years.

A provision 1s set up for the expected restoration obligation after the use of an asset
(decommuissioning costs) see provisions — dilapidation costs This amount 1s recognised
as an on-going cost of using the asset over 1ts useful life. Interest costs associated with
funding the construction of an asset are expensed as incurred and are not capitalised No
matenal grants have been received 1n respect of property, plant and equipment.

3 4 Fmnancial assets

Associates

Group companies and other associates in which the Company exercises significant
influence, generally accompanying a shareholding of 20% or more of the voting nights,
are stated at net asset value

Net asset value has been calculated, where possible, on the basis of Group’s accounting
policies and principles Associates with an equity deficit are carried at ml A provision 1s
formed if and when the company 1s fully or partially liable for the debts of the associate,
or has the firm intention to allow the associate to pay its debts

Associates acquired are initially measured at the fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilitites upon acquisiion. Any subsequent valuation 15 based on the Group's
accounting policies and principles, taking into account the imtial valuation.

Associates 1n which no significant influence can be exercised are recogmsed at cost If
an asset qualifies as impawred, 1t 15 measured at its ympaired value; any write-offs are
disclosed 1n the income statement
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Financial leases

For assets leased to customers, under financial lease arrangements, the net investment 1n
leases, 1e the present value of remamning mummum lease payments (adjusted for
residuals and interest), 1s mncluded withun financial assets (long term receivable) and
current assets - accounts receivable (short-term receivable) Interest ncome and
termination results are accounted for in the periods to which they relate

Marketable Securities
These assets are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value

3.5. Imparrment of non-current assets

At each balance sheet date, the Company tests whether there are any indications of assets
being subject to impairment If any such indications exist, the recoverable amount of the
asset 1s determined If this proves to be impossible, the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs 1s identified An asset 15 subject to
mmpawument 1if 1ts carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the recoverable
amount 15 the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use An
impairment loss 1s directly expensed 1n the income statement

The Company assesses at each balance sheet date whether there 1s objective evidence
that a financial asset or a group of financial assets 1s tmpatred If any such evidence
exists, the impairment loss 1s determined and recogmised 1n the mcome statement.

The amount of an impairment loss mcurred on financial assets stated at amortised cost 18
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (1 € the effective interest rate computed at mnitial recognition). If, n a subsequent
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurning after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss shall be reversed. The reversal shall not result in a carrying
amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortised cost would have been had
the imparment not been recognised at the date the imparrment 1s reversed The amount
of the reversal shall be recogmsed 1n profit or loss

3 6 Current assets — stocks

Raw materials and consumables are valued at the lower of cost (including, where
appropnate, expenditure directly tncurred 1n bnnging stocks to their present location and
condition), and net realisable value (note 16)

Fimshed goods and work in progress are valued at the lower of manufacturing cost
(including, where appropriate, mdirect costs attributable to the production of the stocks)
and net realisable value. Net realisable value 1s the estimated selling price achievable 1n
the ordinary course of business, less applicable vanable selling expenses Net realisable
value determmations make allowance for the obsolescence of inventonies. All
inventories are valued using the first in first out method

3 7 Current assets — trade debtors

Trade receivables are recogmised mmtially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost If payment of the receivable is postponed under an extended payment
deadline, fair value 15 measured on the basis of the discounted value of the expected
revenues Interest gains are recognised using the effective interest method. When a
trade receivable 1s uncollectable, it 1s written off agamnst the bad debt reserve for trade
receivables.

38 Cash
Cash compnises (a) unrestricted and available-on-demand cash, and (b) restricted and
unavailable cash (note 18) Cash and cash equivalents are stated at face value

Xerox Investments Enrope B,V - 2012 Annual Report




3 9 Derivative financial instruments

The measurement of these financial instruments, which are publicly traded over the
counter or on recognised exchanges, 1s initially at fair value, with transaction costs taken
to the income statement. Subsequently, their fair value is re-measured, and all gains and
losses from changes therein are recognised 1n the income statement, unless designated 1n
a hedge accounting relationship

3.10 Current Liabilities
These are stated at face value Accounts payable and loans due within one year are
mcluded under current liabilities (notes 19 and 20)

3 11 Borrowings

Borrowings are nitially recogmsed at fair value, net of transaction costs mcurred
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost, being the amount received taking
account of any premum or discount, less transaction costs

Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised 1n the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method

3 12 Provisions

Provisions reflect the recognition of legally enforceable or constructive obligations
existing at the balance sheet date, for which settlement 1s probable and which will
require an outflow of resources to effect settlement that can be reliably estimated
Provisions are measured on the basis of the best estimates of the amounts required to
settle the obligations at the balance sheet date Provisions are stated at the present value
of the expected settlement expenditure unless stated otherwise. Provisions are amended
by corrections to these accounting estimates as further facts become available or as the
obligation 1s settled. Amounts due from third parties in respect of provisions are
recognised as separate assets and only when they are virtually certain to be received

Deferred income tax assets and habilities

Deferred tax 1s provided for tuming differences arising when items of income and
expenditure are included in financial accounts in periods which differ from those i
which they are included in tax computations, these are calculated using the balance sheet
liability method. Liabiliies are provided 1n full, assets, including future benefits of tax
loss carry-forwards, are recognised to the extent that 1t 1s reasonable to assume that they
will be recovered

Restructuring provisions

Restructuring relates to costs directly related to restructunng in progress The
restructuning provision 1s formed at the moment when detailed plans to restructure the
group are formalised and communicated to those affected.

Employee Benefits — short-term

Salanes, wages, and employer social security contributions are taken to the income
statement as they fall due based upon employees’ terms of employment

Pensions

The Group operates various pension plans consisting of both defined benefit pension
schemes and defined contnbution schemes, some of which are state sponsored. The
pension costs 1 the accounts are reported under ASC 715-30 Compensation -
Retirement Benefits — Defined Benefit Plans - Pensions. This is consistent with the
parent company. US accounting is allowed under generally accepted accounting
principles m the Netherlands, as applied to the defined benefit schemes for purposes of
these Group accounts

The majority of the defined benefit schemes are self-admuustered and the schemes’
assets are held independently of the Group’s finances. Payments made to the funds are
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based on actuanal calculations The pension costs 1n the accounts follow generally
accepted accounting principles 1n the Netherlands, as applied to the defined benefit
schemes for purposes of these Group accounts This nvolves making estimates of
existing and future costs and spreading these over the periods during which the services
have been or will be rendered The interest costs ansing from discounting the liabilities
to present value are included in the pension expense Prepayments relating to these
schemes are shown in note 17

The Group also has various unfunded pension schemes Provision 1s made 1n the balance
sheet for present and future obligations not placed under independent pension funds, the
accounting treatment of these schemes also follows generally accepted accounting
principles in the Netherlands Liabilities relating to these schemes are shown 1n note 22

Contributions to defined contnbutton schemes are charged to the profit and loss account
as mcurred Pension disclosures are given 1n note 27 The market performance impacts
m 2012 showed limited recovery in the value of the assets held by pension plans but
there was a corresponding increase 1n pension habihities due to variability in the interest
rates and inflation These impacts and the related unrecognised gains and losses they
have created are recognised in the other comprehensive income impact of pensions,
previcusly referred to as mimimum pension hability, reflected 1n equuty

Dilapidations costs

This charge represents conditional asset retirement obligations associated with leased
facilities where the Group 1s required to remove certain leasehold improvements and
restore the facility to 1ts original condition at lease termination. On a prospective basis,
these charges will be recogmzed ratably over the lease term

3 13 Operating Leases

Leases in which a sigmficant portion of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are
retamned by the lessor are classified as operating leases Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are taken to the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease

3 14 Hedge Accounting

During 2012, the Group continued to enter into cash flow hedges of forecasted Yen
purchases Typically the group’s dealings 1n denivatives are short term with the magority
of impacts flowing into current earnings 1n the year. As at December 31, 2012 the mark-
to-market on cash flow hedges relating to forecast purchases were € 20m (Loss) pre-tax
effects (2011 €24m Gain) Provided the hedge 1s effective unrealised changes i the fair
value of the hedging instrument are initially recognised in equity as other comprehensive
income They are transferred to the income statement when the hedged transaction
affects profit or loss The meffective portion of the change in the fair value of the
hedging instrument 1s recogrused directly 1n profit or loss There were no designated net
investment hedges in 2012 (2011 mil). The relationship between hedging instruments
and the hedged item(s) 1s documented at inception of the transaction. This assessment
that such hedges are highlty effective at offsetting changes in fair values or hedged cash
flows 1s tested at inception and throughout the life of the financial instrument
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4. Accounting policies for the Profit and loss account

4 I. General Information

Profit or loss 1s determined as the difference between the realisable value of goods
delivered and services rendered, and the costs and other charges for the year Revenues
on transactions are recogmsed 1n the period 1n which they are realised

Revenue recognition

In the normal course of business, the Group generates revenue through the sale and
rental of equipment, service, and supplies and income associated with the financing of
our equipment sales Revenue 1s recognised when earned More specifically, revenue
related to sales of our products and services 1s recognised as follows

Equipment- Revenues from the sale of equipment including those from financial leases
are recogmsed at the time of sale or at the mnception of the lease, as appropnate For
equipment sales which require us to mnstall the product at the customer location, revenue
18 recogmsed when the equpment has been delivered 10 and installed at the customer
location and customer acceptance has been received Sales of customer installable and
retail products are recognised upon shipment or receipt by the customer according to the
customer’s shipping terms. Revenues from equipment under other leases and similar
arrangements are accounted for by the operating lease method and are recogmised as
earned over the lease term, which 1s generally on a straight-line basis.

Service Service revenues are derived primarily from maintenance contracts on our
equipment sold to customers and are recognused over the term of the contracts A
substantial portion of our products 1s sold with full service maintenance agreements for
which the customer typically pays a base service fee plus a variable amount based on
usage.

Services. Generally services revenue 1s recogmsed upon delivery of the services
However, a portion of our services revenue relating to longer term contracts is
recogmsed using the percentage of-completion (“POC”) accounting method, which
requires the use of estimates and judgment The methodology wvolves recogmzing
probable and reasonably estimable revenue using the percentage of services completed
based on a current cumulative cost to estimated total cost basis and a reasonably
consistent profit margin over the period Changes to the estimated figures, would revise
our cost and revenue estimates, which may result 1n increases or decreases in revenues
and costs Such revisions are reflected in income 1n the period in which the relevant
facts become known Key factors reviewed by the company to estimate the future costs
to complete each contract are future labour costs, future product costs and expected
productivity efficiencies If at any time these estimates indicate the POC contract will be
unprofitable, the entire estimated loss for the remainder of the contract 1s recorded 1n
cost of services

Supplies Supplies revenue generally 1s recogmsed upon shipment or utilisation by
customer 1n accordance with sales terms.

Revenue Recognition for Financial Leases under Bundled Arrangements: the Group sell
most of its products and services under bundled contract arrangements, which contain
multiple deliverable elements These arrangements typically include equipment, service
and supplies, and financing components for which the customer pays a single negotiated
price for all elements Revenues under these arrangements are allocated based upon
estimated fair values of each element

42 Revenues

Revenues consists of revenue eamned 1n the peniod from the sale and rental of document
processing equipment, the provision of document solutions, the sale of paper and
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supplies, the provision of service and mamntenance, and receipts and interest income
from the leasing operations Amounts are less discounts and such like and are net of
value added tax

Interest and other income from financial leases and credit sales agreements from leasing
operations are an integral part of the marketing strategy of the Group and, as permitted
by the Netherlands Civil Code, fall within the Group’s supply of goods and services
Accordingly, leasing mcome has been included within revenues

4.3. Cost of revenue
Consumption of raw maternials and other cost items are calculated on an historical cost
basis

Cost of revenue includes the cost or book value of leased assets 1n respect of financial
lease agreements, adjusted for the present value of any residual and any related mterest
payable

Interest expense relating to the leasing operations has been mcluded within cost of
revenue in order to match the related treatment of mterest income within revenues

4.4. Selling, General and administrative expenses
Selling expenses, and general and administrative expenses comprise costs chargeable to
the year that are not directly attributable to the cost of the goods sold

4.5 Research and development

Research and development is undertaken by the Group in Europe and by its parent
company, Xerox Corporation, throughout the rest of the world All expenditure on
research and development 1s charged directly to the profit and loss account as mncurred
The Group 1s also charged a royalty for the benefit it derives from the use of the Xerox
brand and technological developments. Although Dutch accounting standards can require
the capitalisation of development costs, no such costs are capitalised by the Group
because the qualifying critena are not met.

4 6 Financial charges

Interest paid and received 1s recognised on a time-weighted basis, taking account of the
effective interest rate of the assets and liabilities concerned When recognising interest
paid, allowance 1s made for transaction costs on loans received as part of the calculation
of effective interest Interest income and expense relates to all of the Group’s business
segments, with the exception of the leasing operations, which have been included within
revenues and cost of revenue The Group does not hold financial mstruments for trading
purposes and loans are generally with affiliates and are held until matunty The
denivatives used by the Group are those generally offered by banks and other financial
mnsttutions and are arms’-length arrangements but there is no active market where they
may be re-traded Consequently, changes n the farr value of these financial instruments
are not recognised directly through profit or loss and are only recognised i this way 1f
they give rise to a settlement gain or loss

47 Tax

Tax 1s calculated on the basis of current tax rates apphed to commercial results in the
various countries of operation. Differences between fiscal accounting principles and the
accounting principles and pohcies apphied by the Group are taken into account

4 8 Share n result of Associates
The share 1n the after tax results of associates valued at net equity 1s determined 1n
proportion to the respective holdings owned by the Group

49 Government grants

Capital government mvestment grants received are shown as deferred mcome and
credited to the profit and loss account by instalments on a basis consistent with the
depreciation policy of the relevant assets, except that any employee-related grants are
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credited directly to the profit and loss account At present the Company 1s not 1n receipt
of any material grants

4 10 Internal Use Software

Direct costs incurred during the application development stage and the implementation
stage for developing, purchasing or otherwise acquiring software for internal use are
capitalised with property, plant and equipment, and are amortised over the estimated
useful lives of the software, generally three to five years All costs incurred dunng the
preliminary project stage, including project scoping, identificabon and testing of
alternatives are expensed as incurred as the criteria for recogmition as an asset are not
met

4 11 Amortisation and depreciation

Intangible assets, including goodwill, are amortised and property, plant and equipment
are depreciated over their estumated useful lives from the point of their being brought into
use Future depreciation and amortisation 1s adjusted 1if there 1s a change in estimated
future useful lives of the assets Gains and losses on sales of property, plant and
equipment are included in depreciation

5. Financial instruments and risk management

Treasury policy

Global treasury policy 1s to 1dentify and to mitigate the impact of financial risk on the
cash flows of the Group from foreign currency and/ or interest rate fluctuations, including
the use of denvative mnstruments It also seeks to mumimise the impact of adverse
financial market fluctuations that affect the Group’s future cash flows The Group’s
hedging methodology mimmuses the volatility and uncertainty underlying cash flows at
their source, thereby affording Xerox the desired economic protection for its financial
activities

Global treasury activities are regularly reviewed by semor management through formal
Risk Management Reviews of lhiquidity, interest rate risk and currency nsk In
conjunction with other subsidiaries of Xerox Corporation overall interest rate nsk 1s
managed 1n a prudent and collective manner, 1n accordance with practices and policies
established by semior management. On a global basis, short and intermediate term cash
forecasting disciplines are maintained to ensure there 1s approprniate continuing financial
liquidity available, Currency exposure 1s further managed by maximsing the opportunity
for internal netting of currency flows Foreign exchange derivatives are used to hedge
currency exposures, but these will not normally be treated as designated foreign currency
hedges in a hedge accounting relationship

6. Treasury

The Group holds simple, un-leveraged denvatives (Interest rate swap agreements,
forward foreign exchange contracts), which are employed solely for hedging purposes
The Group does not enter mto derivative instrument transactions for trading or other
speculative purposes.

(i)Currency Risk
Short term forward exchange contracts are used to minimise all on-going currency nisks,
including translation nsk ansing from holding both foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities as well as cash anising from anticipated transactions

The contract value and fair value of the currency instruments at the balance sheet date
were €1.8 billion and €29 million (Gain) respectively (2011 €1 9bllion and €25 mullion
{Loss)).
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(ii)Interest Rate Risk
The Group does not have a fully matched funded portfolio, however, in conjunction with
other subsidiaries of Xerox Corporation overall interest rate risk 1s managed 1n a prudent
and collective manner, 1n accordance with practices and policies established by senior
management,

(iii)Credit Risk
The Group’s policies on the use of denivative mstruments prescribe an investment grade
counterparty, a credit floor and at least quarterly monitoring of credit nsk on a
counterparty by counterparty basis Individual monetary credit limits are applied to each
counterparty The Group’s derivative portfolio 1s spread over a sufficient number of
counterparties so as to minimise credit risk

7. Revenue Information

Revenues can be analysed approximately as follows

2012 2011
Geographical distribution €m €m
Netherlands 251 234
France 673 696
UK 1,123 1,002
Other EU countries 1,634 1,747
Other European countnies 665 564
Canada 1,023 543
Asia, Africa and other areas 1,400 1,262
Total revenues 6,769 6,048
Product/service distribution
Sale of goods 3,046 2,869
Services including facilities management 3,342 2,849
Rental income 123 98
Lease mterest 215 201
Other 43 31
Total revenues 6,769 6,048
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8. Cost of Revenue, Selling expenses and General and Administrative expenses

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment of assets

Cost of sales, selling expenses and general and administrative expenses include
amortisation, depreciation and impairment of assets These can be broken down as
follows

2012 2011

€m €m

Amortisation of untangible assets (Note 13) 213 184
Depreciation of property, plant & equipment (Note 14) 187 145
400 329

Short-term employee benefits

The employee benefits expense 1s included 1 cost of sales and selling expenses and general
and administrative expenses, depending on the activities of the employees in question

2012 2011

€m £m

Salanies and wages 1,197 1,144
Social secunty contributions 207 172
Pension contributions 120 63
1,524 1,379

The employment cost increase reflects the full year inclusion of Canada and Brazil, €215m
and €23m respectively following the acquisition of these compames in 2011

9. Selling and general & administrative expenses

2012 2011
€m €m
Intangible amortisation 213 184
Restructuning and re-organisation costs 42 (1Y
Xerox Corporation charges 285 248
Research and development costs 1n Europe 3 6)
Administrative expenses 548 481
Exchange gains & losses, and other 6 3
General & administrative expenses 1,097 8,800
Selling expenses excluding bad debt provision 599 558
Bad debt provision 64 80
Selling expenses 663 638
Total selling and general & administrative costs 1,760 1,537
26
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10, Gain on Disposal of Assets

In 2012, the gain of €2 mullion arises from the release of deferred gains on sales and
leaseback transactions in the UK, Denmark, and Holland. The reported gain in 2011
consists of the release of deferred gains on sales and leaseback transactions in the UK,
Denmark, and Holland

11, Financial Result 2012 2011
€m €m
Interest and simlar (income) (13) (5
Interest and stmilar expense - 1
Interest expense from group companies 13 13
Other Finance charges - 1
Total Financial result - 10

12. Tax on profit from ordinary activities

The effective tax rate of 116 9% in respect of the reported profit (2011 50 3%) 1s higher
than the nominal rate of 25% (2011 25%) primarily due to the following factors

%
Effective tax rate 116.9
Non-deductible goodwill (83.1)
Profits taxed at different rates to nomunal 25% (1.5)
Tax audit settlements and prior period adjustments (10)
Permanent differences / other (63)
Nominal rate 25.0

At 31 December 2012 there were gross unrecogmsed trading losses of €1,582m (2011.
€1,596m) which arose predominantly in Brazil and Ireland with €770m and €755m
respectively There were also unrecognised capital losses of €43m (2011: €49m)
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13. Intangible assets
Other 2012 2011
Goodwill Intangible Total Total

€m €m €m €m
Gross cost at 1 January 3,615 70 3,685 3,468
Acquisitions 27 21 48 100
Contributed by parent - - - 87
Retirements - 4) 4) -
Transfers - - - 17
Translation differences 32 - 32 13
Balance at 31 December 3,674 87 3,761 3,685
Accumulated amortisation at 1 January 2,135 14 2,149 1,963
Amortisation 1n year 204 9 213 184
Retirements - (3) (3) -
Translation differences 4 - 4 2
Balance at 31 December 2,343 20 2,363 2,149
Net book value at 1 January 1,480 56 1,536 1,505
Net book value at 31 December 1,331 67 1,398 1,536

The current year additions relate to the external purchase of Laser Networks Inc acquired
in March 2012 with a purchase price of €13m, Wireless Data Services Companies
acquired mn August 2012 for €20m, XL World Srl (including Eagle Connect Shpk and
Voice Star Sh p k) acquired n January 2012 for €11m and Green Imaging Supphes Inc
purchased for €2m m March 2012 The Group has 100% ownership of all these
purchases. The goodwill assets acquired prior to 2011 are bemng amortised over 20 years
and this cost is reflected within general admmistrative expenses This amortisation
pertod was selected because of the long term nature of the assets acquired and was based
upon the recurnng nature of Xerox’ business within the acquired customer base This
customer base 1s the platform for growth 1n terms of new and extended product offerings
Goodwill acquired in the subsequent periods 1s amortised over 7 to 10 years reflecting the
different services based activities of the more recently acquired companies and the pertod
over which the expected synergies are realised
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14. Property, plant and equipment

M

Land and Plant and Fixtures, Rental  Capitalised Total
Buldings  Machinery fittings, & cquipmeat Software
& toohng  equipment
€m €m €m €m €m €m
Cost 331 275 235 n 560 1,773
Accumulated depreciation  (107) (236) (133) {220) {(335) (1,031)
Net book value
at 1 January 2012 224 39 102 152 225 742
Additions 19 11 72 99 28 229
Cost of busmess acquisition - - 4 - 6 10
Disposals and
transfers to mventory (6) (14) (63) (136) 18 (237)
Depreciation (22) (14) (43) (73) (35) (187
Depreciation on disposals
and transfers to inventory - 12 27 107 14 160
Exchange rate changes - - - 1 5 6
Net book value
at 31 December 2012 215 34 99 150 225 723
Cost 344 272 248 335 576 1,775
Accumulated depreciation  (129) (238) (149) (185) (351 (1,052)
Net book value
at 31 December 2012 215 M 99 150 225 723
15. Financial assets 2012 2011
Summary €m €m
Associates at net equity value (1) 1,109 1,150
Financial leases () 1,543 1,668
Other {111) 18 49
Total Financial Assets 2,670 2,867
Associates at net equity value Fup Other 2012 2011
Xerox Companies Total Total
€m €m
At 1 January 1,094 56 1,150 1,035
Share in profits 109 7 116 113
Acqusitions & disposals - - - -
Dividend 41) ® 49) (43)
Minimum pension liabilities in equity (9) - 9 (22)
Translation (98) ) 99) 67
At 31 December 1,055 54 1,109 1,150
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Fuji Xerox — share of consolidated balance sheet (extract) 2012 2011
€m €m

Non-current assets 1,165 1,170
Current assets 975 975
Current hiabilities (656) (728)
Non-current liabilities (224) {157)
Provisions (179) (140)
Net assets before intercompany elimination 1,081 1,120
Intercompany elirnmnation (26) (26)
Net assets after intercompany elimination 1,055 1,094
(ii) Financial leases 2012 2011
€m €m

At 1 January 1,668 1,260
New iease amounts rece1vable 591 774
Transfer to short-term lease receivables (388) (380)
Disposals and terrminations (336) (387)
Acquisition / Contribution - 394
Exchange rate changes 8 7
At 31 December 1,543 1,668
Gross lease receirvables 2,817 3,038
Uneamed income (353) (395)
Residual values 1 2
Allowance for doubtful accounts (85) (89)
Current portion of finance receivables not billed (837) (888)
Amounts due after one year, net 1,543 1,668

Contract maturities in €m
2013 2014 2015 2016

2017 Thereafter Total

Gross finance recervables 997 797 567 322
Net finance receivables 843 673 479 272

120
102

14 2,817
12 2,381

A total of €1,389 million was billed durning the year in respect of financial leases Note 7
on revenue shows €215 mullions of lease interest recognised 1n revenue, the difference 1s
primanily the equipment related element in the lease rentals relating to equpment
recognised as sales upon 1nception of the sales type lease contracts
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(iii) Other 2012 2011

€m €m
Marketable Secunties 3 3
Advances 7 7
Loan to Third Parties 2 -
Denivative Assets 6 39
Total Other 18 49

Marketable secunties are typically cash time deposits, there is no material difference
between the carrying value and the fair value of these assets Dertvative asset balances
represent the fair value of derivative financial instruments hedging the exposure related to
transactions in foreign currencies

16. Stocks

2012 2011
€m €m

Finished goods
Equipment 15 86
Spares, consumables and paper 208 186
Raw matenials and consumables 23 20
Work in progress 7 13
Total Stocks 313 305

The inventory values shown above are net of reserves of €32m (2011 €39m) for excess
and cancelled inventory as well as obsolescence. Work in progress relates to many
individual machines and other products at various stages of assembly Upon completion
these machines are transferred into Finished Goods inventory at standard carrying value
which 1s re-set quarterly Fimshed Goods inventory value by product family 1s adjusted
by capitalising variances to the standard cost in line with Inventory Tumover periods —
variances are not allocated to individual machines

17. Receivables

2012 2011

€m €m

Financial leases 837 888
Trade accounts receivable 386 327
Accrued income 208 293
Pension prepayments 25 59
Receivables from related associates 241 114
Other recervables and prepayments 288 392
Deferred tax 239 164
Total Receivables 2,314 2,237

The entire values of pension prepayments are long term Approximately €185 million of
above deferred tax asset is non-current in 2012 (2011 €120 million)

The Group has a facihty enabling the sale without recourse to a third-party on an on-
going basis of certan accounts receivables During 2012 and 2011, approximately
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€1,787 million and €1,653 million respectively were sold under this faciity Fees
associated with the facility were €11 million and €10 milhon respectively As at 31
December 2012, €411 million remamed uncollected by the third-party (2011 €458
muillion )

18. Cash

Reported cash of €848 million (2011. €642 mullion) 1s all available-on-demand and
unrestricted, except for €224 million (2011 - €234 million), which 18 restncted and not
available The restinicted cash also reflects payments due to certain national governments
for payroll deductions which must be set aside in escrow until they are paid The
restnicted cash balance also represents amounts collected on behalf of factoring agencies
which has not yet been remitted to them

19. Borrowings

Long term debt

2012 2011

€m €m

Bank and mstitutional borrowings 4 I\

Owing to group companies 892 1,222

Total long term debt 896 1,223
Short term debt

2012 2011

€m €m

Bank and institutional borrowings 3 2

Owing to Xerox Corporation and subsidianes 400 14

Total current liabilities — short term 403 16

Xerox Investments Enrope B V - 2012 Annual Report R




Currency denominahon 2012 Average 2012 2011
Interest rate Amount Amount
Yo €m €m
Fully repayable within one year
Pound sterling Fixed 7 6596 374 -
Other currencies 26 14
Total short term debt from group companies 400 i4
Fully repayable within five years
Pound sterling Fixed 7 6596 - 365
Pound sterling Fixed Annually 2708 695 677
Pound sterhng Fixed 7.50 29 30
US Dollars Fixed 41233 46 47
Other currencies 13 19
Fully repayable in more than five years
Pound sterling Fixed 80 40 38
Pound sterling Fixed 6 65 36 35
Pound sterling : Variable 4976 11 11
Pound sterling Fixed 5625 22 -
Total long term debt from group companies 892 1,222

The Group’s bank and institutional borrowings, short term and long term debt, are
pnmanly related to capitalised lease oblhigations of €5m, mtercompany funding from
Xerox Corporation and subsidianes of €1,292m.

The Sterling long term debt in 2011 1s a Eurobond 1ssued to a Xerox affihated company
maturing 1 July 2013 €374m and a loan from an affihated company to the group of
€695m maturing in 2016 There are also a series of Sterling loans funding the acquisition

of Xerox Services companies

A change 1n interest rates of 100 basis points would change the Group’s total interest

costs on short term and long term debt by €12 9m on a full year basis

20. Current liabilities — other

2012 2011

€m €m

Accruals and deferred income 531 508
Denivative habilities 33 14
Trade creditors 631 707
Current corporate 1mncome tax 17 25
VAT payable 81 61
Other tax and social security 59 63
Owing to Xerox Corporation and subsidiartes 21 11
Owing to related associates - 1
Total current liabilities — other 1,373 1,390

Derivative hability balances represent the fair value of denvative financial instruments
hedging the exposure related to transactions in foreign currencies
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21. Other Non-Current Liabilities

2012 201!

€m €m

Deferred Revenue 8 2
Accrued Costs 12 12
Non-current Income Taxes 21 19
Legal Disputes Accruals 120 158
Other 19 26
Total non-current liabilities - other 180 217

The legal disputes accruals relate to the legal cases in progress in Brazil between Xerox
and former employees and the Brazilian government The net decrease 1s primarnily due to
reversal of provisions due to favourable case decisions

22. Provisions

Restructaring  Pensions  Other Post Deferred  Other Total

retirement Tax

€m €m €m €m €m €m
At 1 January 2012 57 775 111 923 26 1,062
Utilisation (40) - (6) (46)
Charged to profit and 42 9 (8) 11 54
loss
Balance sheet (1) 199 - )] (2) 187
transfers
Acquisitions / (2) - - 4 . 2
contnibutions
Other movements - - 3 - (3) -
(net)
At 31 December 2012 56 974 123 80 26 1,259
Of which, short term 51 18 - 37 - 106

The restructuring provision relates to headcount reduction actions n the services business
to improve its operational efficiency Pensions reflects the funded status on defined
benefit pension plans, Deferred taxes arise primarily due to tming differences on leases
and to tax effecting the pension accounting in equity, offset by other timng differences
ansing from goodwill and trading activity “Other” relates principally to warranty and
recourse provisions, to the EC Directive on the recovery and recycling of products from
electrnical manufacturers, and to the anticipated dilapidations costs which may be claimed
against group companies regarding various leased premises

The pension and other post retirement benefits impacts 1n other comprehensive income
increased by €226m net of tax due to the annual re-measurement of the funded status of
group final salary plans with a further €9m 1mpact from our mvestment in Fuy Xerox
(2011 €442m increase) - (refer note 27 Penstons and note 28 Retiree Medical Benefits).

23. Shareholders’ equity

For information on shareholders’ equity, see the Xerox Investments Europe B V.
Company financial statements, note 39
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24, Contingent liabilities and off-balance sheet commitments

Contingent habilities

Our Brazihan operations are mvolved i various litigation matters and have received or
been the subject of numerous governmental assessments related to indirect and other
taxes, as well as disputes associated with former employees and contract labour The tax
matters comprise a significant portion of total contingencies, principally relate to claims
for taxes on mternal transfer of mventory, municipal service taxes on rentals and gross
revenue taxes At 31*' December, 2012 there are reserves in place to cover the anticipated
losses and the total contingent liabilities for the vanous cases are €764 million reduced by
€864 mullion over the previous year end In connection with these disputes, local
regulations may require escrow cash deposits or post other securnty of up to 50% of the
total disputed value At the year end there were €160 million of escrow cash deposits,
€10m of liens on Brazihian assets and additional letters of credit of €183 mullion
Generally, any escrowed amounts would be refunded and any liens would be removed to
the extent the matters are resolved n our favour

In 1997, the Group purchased the entire share capital of the Rank Organisation Limited
now XRO Limited. The Rank Organisation Limited and its subsidiary compames had a
number of outstanding contingent liabilities, including guarantees, when 1t was acquired
by the Group Xerox Overseas Holdings Limited has been provided with an unlimited
indemmty by The Rank Group Plc 1n respect of any loss arising from these contingent
liabilities and guarantees

Xerox Capital (Europe) Limited continues as a named borrower under the New Credit
Facility, whach is also guaranteed by Xerox Corporation Xerox UK Holdings Limited
and Xerox Overseas Holdings Limited have each provided a guarantee in respect of
Xerox Capital (Europe) Limited

There are contingent liabilittes amounting to €109 mullion (2011 - €96 mllion) of which
€21 mllion 1s 1n respect of legal disputes, and €88 million relates to recoverable monies
under factoring arrangements which will be resolved over the next 12 months. There are
no liens and guarantees provided (2011 - €7 million)

Off-balance sheet commitments
At 31 December 2012, the Group had no outstanding capital commitments (2011 - €nil)

There are also long-term lease commutments of €168 muilion (2011 - €196 million), of
which €59 million are due in 2013, €104 mulhon are due up to 2017 and €5 milhon
thereafter

In 2007, the Group outsourced its shared financial support operations to IBM Under the
terms of this agreement, if the company were to end this arrangement during 2013,
termination fees of €8 million would be payable

Xerox Investments Europe BV has 1ssued various guarantees in relation to the habilities
of subsidiaries included in these consolhidated accounts The guarantees are principally
under Section 403,1 sub f of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code or section 479C of the
UK Companies Act 2006. Details of the individual subsidianies covered by the
guarantees are given 1n Note 40.
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25. Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows

Changes in net debt

At Change 1n

Exchange

At

I Jan 2012 cash flow rate changes 31 Dec 2012
€m €m €m €m
Bank & institutional borrowings 2 1 - 3
Owing to Xerox Corporation and subsidianes 14 372 14 400
Short term debt 16 373 14 403
Bank & mstitutional borrowings 1 3 - 4
Owing to Xerox Corporation and subsidiaries 1,222 (362) 32 892
Long term debt 1,223 (359) 32 896
Net debt 1,239 14 46 1,299
26. Related party transactions
(i) Principal related parties of XIE B.V. and subsidiaries
Related Party Relationship
Xerox Corporation Parent company
Fujp Xerox Co, Lid Pnincipal non-consolidated company
Xerox pension funds Vanous penston funds

(ii) Transactions with the related parties include sales and purchases of goods and services

and are priced at arms’-length and in accordance with established agreements and
guidelines. The recent changes in Dutch reporting regulations mean that only
significant transactions with related parties outside of usual day to day business need to
be disclosed. We will therefore only provide such information in future when these
circumstances arise

27. Pensions

The Group apphies ASC 715-30 Compensation — Retirement Benefits — Defined Benefit
Plans - Pensions in common with our parent company, Xerox Corporation The Group
sponsors numerous defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes
throughout 1ts subsidianies Substantially all of the defined benefit schemes are self-
admmmistered and their assets are held independently of the Company’s finances The
measurement date for our defined benefit schemes 1s 31 December. Information
regarding 1ts pension plans 1s presented below and includes the impact of the comparues
acquired or contributed to the group m the year
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Pension Benefits

2012 2011
Change in Benefit Obligation €m €m
Benefit obligation, 1 January 4,499 3,380
Service cost 62 50
Interest cost 208 190
Plan participants’ contribuiions 7 7
Plan amendments ) -
Actuanal loss 377 367
Currency exchange rate changes 74 49
Business Combinations - 615
Special termunation benefits - 2
Benefits paid/settiements (196) {161)
Benefit obligation, 31 December 5,030 4,499

2012 2011
Change in Plan assets €m €m
Farr value of plan assets, 1 January 3,744 3,128
Actual return on plan assets KX ») 200
Employer contribution 123 91
Plan participants' contributions 7 7
Asset reclassification (1) 3
Currency exchange rate changes 67 40
Busmness Combinations - 439
Benefits paid (191) (164)
Fair value of plan assets, December 31 4,081 3,744
Funded status (including under-funded and non-funded
plans)
Benefit obligation, December 31 (5,030) (4,499)
Plan assets, December 31 4,081 3,744
{Un)Funded status (949) (755)
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet consists of:
Prepaid benefit cost (note 17) 25 59
Accrued benefit liability (note 22) 974) (775)
Net amount recognised (949) (716)
Accumulated other comprehensive income analysis (pre-tax):
Net actuarial loss 1,537 1,240
Accumuiated other comprehensive income 1,537 1,240

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was €4,770
million and €4,297 mullion at 31 December 2012 and 2011, respecuvely Information
for pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets 1s
presented below
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2012 2011
€m €m
Under-funded or non-funded plans
Aggregate projected benefit obligation 4,967 3,659
Aggregate accumulated benefit obligation 4,722 3,872
Aggregate fair value of plan assets 4,007 2,964

The Group’s defined benefit retirement plans provide employees with a benefit at the
greater of (1) the benefit calculated under a highest average pay and years of service
formula, or (11) the benefit calculated under a formula that provides for the accumulation

of salary and interest credits during an employee's work life.

2012 2011
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost €m €m
Defined benefit plans
Service cost 62 54
Interest cost 208 194
Expected return on plan assets (237) (211)
Recognized net actuarial loss 41 24
Amortization of prior service cost - -
Recognized net transition asset - -
Recognized curtailment/settlement loss 1 3
Net periodic benefit cost 75 64
Defined contribution plans 27 17
Total 102 81
Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations
Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income
Net actuarial {gain) / loss (315) {395)
Prior service credit - -
Amortization of Net actuarial loss 42 31
Amortization of Prior service credit - -
Amortization of Transition obligation - -
Total Recognized in other comprehensive income (273) (364)
Total Recognized in Net Periodic Benefit Cost and Other
Comprehensive Income (273) (364)

The net actuanal loss and prior service cost that will be amortized from accumulated
other comprehensive loss into net periodic benefit cost over the next fiscal year are

€60m and €nil, respectively

The investment mix of the plan assets can be detailed as follows
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2012 2011
Plan Assets Defined benefit plans

€m % €m %
Cash & Equivalent 378 9% 293 8%
Equity Securities 1484 36% 1,307 35%
Debt Securities 1,697 42% 1,627 43%
Real Estate 292 T% 307 8%
Other 230 6% 210 6%
Total 4,081 100% 3,744  100%

None of the investments include debt or equity securities of Xerox Corporation

Investment Strategy

During 2012 target asset allocations again had to be kept flexible to respond to the
volatility in the investment markets As a consequence, the holding of cash and
equivalent assets has been maintained at elevated levels. Detailed investment decisions
are taken at the level of the individual plans 1n each country and the targets quoted are a
weighting of activities across all of the plans

We employ a total return investment approach whereby a mix of equities and non-
current income investments are used to maximise the long-term return on plan assets for
a prudent level of risk The mvestment portfolio contains a diversified blend of equity
and non-current mcome investments established by careful consideration of plan
liabihities, plan funded status, and the Group’s financial condition Other mvestments
such as real estate are used to improve portfolio diversification

Expected Long Term Rate of Return

A “building block™ approach 1s employed 1n determining the long-term rate of return for
plan assets Histoncal markets are studied and long-term relationships between equities
and non-current income securities are assessed Current market factors such as inflation
and interest rates are evaluated before long-term capital market assumptions are
determined The long-term portfolio retumn 1s established giving consideration to
mvestment diversification and rebalancing Peer data and historical returns are
reviewed periodically to assess reasonableness and appropriateness.

Determination of Benefit Obligations 2012 2011
Weighted average assumptions as of December 31 % %
Discount rate 4.0 46
Expected retumn on plan assets 6.1 62
Rate of compensation increase 2.7 27
Determination of net Benefit Cost 2013 2012 2011
Weighted average assumptions as of December %o % %
Discount rate 4.0 46 50
Expected return on plan assets 61 6.2 65
Rate of compensation increase 27 27 2.8

Pension contnibutions 1n 2013 are expected to be €122m.
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Expected benefit payouts are set out 1n the table below

Estimated Future Benefit Payments €m
2013 185
2014 187
2015 196
2016 205
2017 210
2018 and beyond 1,161

28. Retiree Medical Benefits

The Group applies ASC 715-30 Compensation — Retirement Benefits ~ Defined Benefit
Plans - Pensions in common with our parent company, Xerox Corporation The retiree
medical benefits detailed relate primanly to the Group's Canadian subsidianes

2012 2011
Change in Benefit Obligation €m €m
Benefit obligation, 1 January 111 95
Service cost 3 2
Interest cost 5 5
Actuanal (gam) / loss 3 12
Balance Sheet reclass 4 -
Currency exchange rate changes 1 -
Benefits paid/settlements 4) 3)
Benefit obligation, 31 December 123 111

The Retiree Medical Benefits benefit obligation 1s non-funded Cash contributions are
made to cover the benefits paid 1n the year

Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet consists of:

Accrued benefit | 1abihity (note 22) (123) (111)

Accumulated other comprehensive income analysis (pre-tax):

Net actuanal loss 27 25
Pnior service credit (D {1)
Transition obligation - -
Accumulated other comprehensive income 26 24

29. Average number of employees

2012 2011

000s 000s

Sales & Service Netherlands 0.9 19
Other EU countries 116 138

Other European countries 34 19

Rest of World 24.3 258

Leasing 0.1 01
Manufactunng 2.0 08
Total 42.3 443
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The 2011 figures have been restated to include Canada and Brazil which were onginally
shown separately to avoid distorting the averages in the year of acquisition

30. Audit fees

The following audit fees were expensed 1n the income statement 1n the reporting period

2012 2011

€m €m

Audit of the financial statements 4.2 52
Other audit procedures 0.2 0.2
Tax services 0.1 02
Other non-audit services 0.2 0.2
Total 4.7 58

The fees listed above relate only to the procedures applied to the Company and its
consohidated group entities by accounting firms and external auditors as referred to in

Section 1(1) of the Dutch Accounting Firms Qversight Act (Dutch acronym Wta)

31. Estimated Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Euros milhions 2012 2011
Loan excluding interest Interest Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair
% value value value value

Pound sterting Fixed {Eurobond) 7 6596 361 371 351 315
Pound sterfing Fixed 75 30 32 30 32
US Dollars Fixed 495 38 41 22 23
US Dollars Fixed 479 5 4 3 3
US Dollars Fixed 413 10 8 6 6
US DoMars Fixed 297 16 12 9 9
US Dolfars Fixed 274 12 12 7 7
Pound sterling Fixed 80 38 44 37 44
Pound sterling . Fixed 6 65 35 37 34 30
TOTAL 545 561 499 469

The fair value of long term debt 1s based upon quoted market interest rates at the balance
sheet date, using those interest rates against the interest flows under the debt in issue to
calculate the current value which could be supported by those flows New long term
loans from affiliated compamies were put in place during 2012 However, only those
loans which are or have previously been longer term in nature and carry fixed interest
rates are shown in the above analysis. Effective July 16th 2013 the Sterling £295 million
Fixed Eurobond (€361m) matured and was refinanced with a 3 year fixed £185 million
loan
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32. Financial Instruments

Financual instruments at fair value

The table below shows financial instruments stating their fair value and changes 1n value
recogmsed directly either through the revaluation reserve or through profit or loss, and
changes i value charged directly to the freely distnbutable reserves

Fair value Recognised Recognised Charged to

through through freely
revaluatio profit or distributable
n reserve loss Teserves
€m €m €m €m
Dernvative financial instruments
Forward exchange contracts (28.7) (19 8) (88 0

Derivative financial instruments

Forward exchange contracts are used to hedge foreign currency balances and anticipated
cash flows Hedges of anticipated cash flows have been designated under cash flow hedge
accounting rules The gains and losses from the re-measurement of these derivatives are
taken to equity The neffective portion of any gains or losses 1s taken to the Income
Statement

The re-measurement of derivatives that are not designated under hedge accounting rules 1s
taken directly to the Income Statement.

All derntvatives will mature 1n less than one year

33. Principal Subsidiaries
and Associates at 31 December 2012

(i) Subsidiaries of Xerox Investments Europe B.V.

Percentage of ordinary
Country of Registered  share capital owned
incorporation office directly by XIEBV (%)
Xerox UK Holdings Lirmited England Uxbnidge 100
Xerox Holdings (Ireland) Limted Ireland Dublm 100
Xerox Israel Eamated Israel Tel Aviv 100
XC Trading Smgapore (Pte) Limited Singapore Singapore 100
XC Global Trading BV The Netherlands Breukelen 100
Xcrox Middle East Investments Lirmuted Bormuda Bermuda 100

(ii) Subsidiaries of Xerox UK Holdings Limited

Country of Registered
100% ordinary shares owned unless stated otherwise  incorporation office
Voice Star Shpk Albama Viore
Eagle Connect Shpk Albama Viare
Wirciess Data Services (Propnetary) Limited Australia Wollongong
Hugh Symons Wireless Data Services Pty Limited Australn Wollongong
Xerox Austna GmbH Austna Vienna
Xerox Office Supphies GmbH Austna Yieuna
Xerox Leasmg GmbH Austna Vienna
Xerox Global Services GmbH Austna Vienna
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ACS Austria GmbH Austna Vienna
ACS [ntemational (Barbados) Lumted Barbados 5t Micharl
Xerox Finameial Services Belux SA Belglum Zaventem
NV Xerox SA Belgium Zaventem
ACS of Belgium SPRL Belgium Anderlecht
Xerox Management Services NV Belgium Zaventem
ACS do Brasii Limitada Brazil Sao Paulo
Xerox Servicos € Participacoes LTDA (Brazil Brazil Sao Paulo
Xerox Comercio e Industna LTDA Branl Sa0 Paulo
ACS HR Solucoes Servicos de Recursos Humanos do Brasil Lida

Brant Sao Paulo
Xerox Bulgana EGOD Bulgana Sofia
Xerox Canada Inc Canada Toronto
Xerox Canada Finance Inc Canada Toronto
ACS Public Sector Salutions Inc Canada Toronto
ACS Government Solutions Canada Inc Canada Toronto
ACS HR Solutions Canada Co Canada Toronto
Xerox Canada Limited Canada Toronto
LaserNetworks Inc Canada Toronto
6999816 Canada Inc Canada Taronto
Green Imagmg Supplies e Canada Toronto
ACS Solutions Chile SA Chile Santiago
ACS Tianjin Co Lirmted China Tianym
ACS Cyprus Holdings Limited Cyprus Limassol
Xerox Czoch Republics ro Czech Republic Prague
ACS Czech Republic sro Czech Republic Prague
Xerox A/S Denmark Ballerup
Xerox Financial Services Danmark A/S Denmark Ballerup
ACS Business Process (Domuican Republic) SA Dorminican Republic  Santo Donungo
ACS Busmess Process Solutrons Liruged England London
ACS Informatton Technologies UK Lumited England Telford
ACS Worldwide Lending Limited England London
Amix Business $ystems Limuted England London
Anx Computers Limated England London
Anix Group Limited England Loadon
Anix Holdings Limted England London
Bevis Trustees Limuted England London
Bluc River Systems Lirited England London
Buck Consultants (Admunistraton and lavestments) Lirmted England Londen
Buck Consultapts (Healthcare) Limuted England London
Buck Consultants Liputed England London
Concept Group Lamited Scotland Edinburgh
Concept Group (Sales) Limited Scotland Edinburgh
Contirua Lamuted England Uxbnidge
Posetiv Limited England London
Red Squared Limted England London
PR Systemns Limited England Telford
RRXIL Limited England Uxbndge
Spur Information Solutioas Limuted England London
Syan Holdings Larmted England Telford
Syan Technology Limited England Telford
Talking People Limuted England London
Triton Business Finance Limited England Uxbndge
VBHG Limited England London
Wircless Data Services Limited England Dorset
Xerox Finance Limited England Uxbndge
Xerox Overseas Holdings Lumited England Uxbndge
Xerox Limited England Uxbndge
Xerox Capital (Europe) Limited England Uxbndge
Xerox Property Services Limited England London
XRO Limited England Uxbidge
XRI Limited England Uxbndge
Xerox (UK) Limated England Uxbndge
ACS (Fip) Lamuted Fiys Suva

Xerox Investments Europe B.V. - 2012 Annual Report

43



Xerox Oy Finland Espoo
Xerox Financial Services Finland Qy Finland Espoo
Xerox SAS France Pans
Xerobal SAS France Pans
Xerox General Services SAS France Pans
Xerox Financial Services SAS France Newmlly sur Sewne
ACS Business Process Solutions SAS France Toulouse
ACS Holdings (France) SAS France Pans
ACS Solutons France SAS France Guilherand
ACS Strategic Support France EURL France Pans
Xerox Document Supplics SNC France Pans
SET France France Pans
Xerox GmbH Germany Neuss
Xerox Leasmg Deutschland GmbH Germany Neuss
Xerox Holding Deutschland (GmbH Germany Neuss
Xerox Dienstleistungsgesellschaft GmbH Germany Neuss
Xerox Reprographische Services GmbH Germany Neuss
Xerox Capital Services Verwaltungs GmbH Germany Neuss
ACS of Germany GmbH Germany Flensburg
ACS Holdings (Germany) GrabH Germany Flensburg
ACS HR Soluons Germany GmbH Germany Flenshurg
sds business services GmbH Germany Mihein
ACS BPS Ghana Limuted Ghana Accra
Xerox Hellas AEE Greece Athens
ACS BPS de Guatemala SA Guatemala Guatemala
Xerox Hungary Trading Larmited Hungary Budapest
ACS Solunons Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong ‘Wan Cha
ACS of lndia Private Limated India Bangalore
Xerox (Ireland) Limated Ireland Dublm
ACS Ireland Limated hreland Dublin
Insh Busmess Systems Lirmited treland Cork
Xerox SpA Italy Milan
Xerox Italia Rental Services s.rl Raly Milan
Xerox Financial Services taha SpA Italy Milan
ACS Solutions fralia SpA Ttaly Milan
Nuova Karel Seluzniom srl Taly Milan
XLW Srl Laly Milan
XLW StarSr1 Ttaly Milan
ACS Busmess Process Solutions (Jamaica) Limsted Jamaica St Jamex
Xerox Kazakhstan Lamited Liability Partnership Khazakhstan Astana
Xerox Luxembourg SA Luxembourg Luxembourg
ACS Malaysia Sdn Bhd Malaysia Kuala Lumpur
ACS Malta Limuted Mala Valletta
Xecrox (Nederland) B V The Netherlands Breukelen
Xerox Document Supphies B V The Netherlands Breukelen
Xerox Holding (Nederland) B V The Netherlands Breukelen
Xerox Manufacturng (Nederland) BY The Netherlands Breukelen
Xerox Financial Services BY ‘The Netherlands Breukelen
Veenman BV The Netherlands Ronerdam
Veenman Financial Services BV The Netherlands Rotterdam
ACS (Netherlands) BV The Netherlands The Hague
Xerox Sexvices BY The Netherlands Breukelen
ACS Intemational BV The Netheslands Amsterdam
ACS HR Solutions Nederiand BY The Netherlands Amsterdamn
Withaave Groep BV The Netherlands Flevol
Unamic HolMimg BV The Netherlands Flevol
Unamte / HCN BV The Netherlands Flevol
Uname / HVN BVBA Belgium Bruxelles
Xerox AS Norway Lysaker
Xerox Financial Services Norway AS Norway Lysaker
ACS Solutions Peru S A (71 7%) Peru Lima
ACS of the Phlippines Inc The Plulippines Makan City
Xerox Polska Spzo o Poland Warsaw
ACS of Poland SP zo0 Paland Zebicrzow
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Xerox Portugal Equipamentos de Escnterio Limitada Portugal Lisbon
Creditex-Aluguer de EQuipamentos SA Portugai Lisbon
Xerox (Romama) Echipamente S; Servicn SA Romanta Bucharest
Xerox (C1S)LLC Russian Federation Moscow
Wireless Data Services (Asia Pac) Pte Lirmted Singapore Singapore
Xerox Slovenjadoo Slovenia Ljubljana
ACS of Spam SL Spam Barcelona
ACS Sofunons Spam SL Spam Madnd
Buck Censultants SL Spam Madnd
Xerox Espafia, SAU Spam Madnd
Xerox Fabnicacion SAU Spam Madnd
Xerox Office Supplies SAU Spam Madnd
Xerox Renting SAU Spam Madnd
ACS (Propnetary) Laimited South Africa Rosebank
Telenamic NV (50%) Sunname Paramanbo
Xerox Svenge AB Sweden Stockholm
Xerox Financial Services Svenge AB Sweden Stockholm
Xerox AG Switzerland Zunch
Xerox Finance AG Swatzerland Zunch
ACS Solutions Scheweiz AG Swatzerland Bemn
ACS GmbH Swatzerland Wien
Xerox Buro Araclan Ticaret ve Servis AS Turkey Istanbul
Unmaic HCN Musten Hizmetler Limited Sirken Turkey Istanbul
Xerox (Ukramne) Limted LLC Ukramne Kiev
Imaging Business Systems NI Limited Northern Ireland Belfast
(iii)Subsidiaries of Xerox Holdings (Ireland) Limited

100% ordinary shares owned unless stated otherwise

Xerox (Europe) Limited [reland Dublin
Xerox XF Holdmgs (Ireland) Limuted Ireland Dublin
Xerox Leasmg Ireland Limuted Jersey St Helier
Xerox Finance (Ireland) Lamuted England  High Wycombe
NewField Information Technology Larmited England London
All the above are wholly owned subsidianes

(iv) Subsidiaries of XC Trading Singapore (Pte) Limited

100% ordinary shares owned unless stated otherwise

XC Trading Shenzhen Co Limated Peoples Republic of China Shenzhen
XC Trading Korea Korea Seoul
XC Trading Jzpan Japan  Kanagawa-Ken
XC Trading Hong Kong Pte Linuted Hong Kong Kowloon
XC Trading Malays:a Sdn Bhd Malaysia Kuala Lumpur

(v) Subsidiaries of Xerox Middle East Investments (Bermuda) Limited

100% ordinary shares owned unless stated otherwise

Bessemer Insurance Limuted Bermuda Hamlton
Xerox Egypt SAE (75%) Egypt Cawro
Xerox EqLu:pmmt Limuted Bermuda Hamilton
Xerox Maroc SA Moroceo Casablanca
Xerox Products Linuted (519%) Bermuda Hamulton

(vi) Participation in European Economic Interest Group

Faceo Document Impnimenie France Pans
(vii) Associates

Fupt Xerox Co , Lid (25% owned) Japan Tokyo

Xerox India Lid (46% owned) India Gurgaoa

Xerox Errurates LLC (49 % owned) UAE Dubai
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Parent Company

The Company’s parent company 1s Xerox Corporation, which 1s incorporated in the Unuted
States of America Copies of the Xerox Corporation Annual Report and Accounts may be
obtamned from The Investor Relations Department, Xerox Corporation, Norwalk World
Headquarters, 45 Glover Avenue, Norwalk, Connecticut 06856, USA (www xerox com)

Xerox Investments Enrope B.YV. - 2012 Annual Report 46




COMPANY ANNUAL ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012
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XEROX INVESTMENTS EUROPE B.V.

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

(after proposed appropriation of result)

2012 2011
Note €m €m

Non-current assets

Intang:ble assets 35 944 1,086

Financial assets 36 3,223 3,324
Current assets

Debtors 37 14 -
Current habihities

Owing to Xerox Corporation and affiliates - -
Current assets less current liabilities - -
Assets less current hhabilities 4,181 4,410
Provisions

Provisions for subsidiaries 38 75 39
Shareholder’s equity

Issued share capital 39 3,140 3,140

Share premium 39 730 730

Other reserves (113) 172

Retained earnings 39 349 329
Total sharebolder’s equity 39 4,106 4,371
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XEROX INVESTMENTS EUROPE B.V.
COMPANY PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

2012 2011
€m €m
Result of subsidianes and
associates after tax 239 350
Other result after tax (142) (149)
Net result 97 201
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Notes to the company financial statements

34. General Information
The company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the statutory
provisions of Part 8, Book 2, of the Netherlands Civil Code and the firm pronouncements
in the Guidelines for Annual Reporting in the Netherlands as 1ssued by the Dutch
Accounting Standards Board
The accounting policies for the company financial statements and the consohdated
financial statements are the same Group compames are stated at net asset value in
accordance with Note 3.4 to the consohidated financial statements.
For the accounting policies for the company balance sheet and income statement,
reference 1s made to the notes to the consolidated balance sheet and income statement on
pages [5to 25

35. Intangible assets

The unamortised value of intangible assets 1s almost entirely goodwill.
Accum. Net Book

Cost Amortisation Value

€m €m €m

Balance at 1 January 2012 3,178 (2,092) 1,086
Amortisation - (142) (142)
Acquisitions & contributions - - -
Translation differences & Other - - -
Balance at 31 December 2012 3,178 (2,234) 944

36. Financial assets

(i) Affiliated companies
Principal companies affiliated to the Group within The Netherlands and elsewhere are
shown on pages 42 to 45.

(ii) Investments in subsidiary undertakings

and associates at net equity value 2012 2011
€m €m
Opening balance 3,324 2,983
Share of profit 241 354
Exchange rate changes (88) 385
Net capital contributions 307
Dividends received / (paid) 15 357
Other comprehensive income pre-tax pensions (303) (594)
Other comprehensive income tax re pensions 77 152
Acquisttions and adjustments (38) 80
Transfers from Provisions 5) 14
Total financial assets — closing balance 3223 3,324
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37. Current assets — debtors

2012 2011
€m €m
Loans to subsidianes 14 -

38. Provisions

2012 2011
€m €m
Opening balance K 21
Share of loss (profit) - 2 3
Transfers (to) / from Investments m Subsidianies 5 14
Other 38 -
Exchange rate changes 1 1
Provision for subsidiaries - closing balance 75 39

In the opimon of the Directors, the Company has a constructive obligation to fund the
ongoing activities of its subsidiaries An assessment has been carmed out for those
subsidianes that have negative equity and the provision has been adjusted to show a
closing balance of €75 million, which 1s the Company’s share 1n the negative equity value
of the subsidianies and 1s the Directors’ best estumate of the obligation. The current year
movement 1 the provision of €36 million increase (2011 €18 mullion ncrease)
represents the change 1n negative equity of the subsidianes dunng the year due to losses
generated and movements in Other consisting principally of a legal distribution of €30m
and movements 1n pension liabilities of €5m

39, Shareholder’s equity movement schedule
The Company’s issued share capital 1s 11,331,950 A shares and 767,227 B shares of
€259 52 each (2011: A shares 11,331,950 and B shares 767,227 at €259.52 each) The

authorised share capital 1s 15 mullion A shares and 5 mullion B shares of €259 52 each

The movements in equity during the year are shown below

Share Share Currency Non- Retained
captal premium  translation distnbutable  earn/ acc Total
reserve reserves deficit

€m €m €m €m €m €m
At 1 Janvary 2012 3,140 730 245 (73) 329 4,371
Dividend to parent - - - - -
Net result - - - - 97 97
Associate Income - - - 116 (116) -
Associate Dividend - - - 41 41 -
Other comprehensive income - - - (235 - (235)
Acquisitions - - - 37 - (37N
Other - - - 1 @ )
Translation duiff - - (89) - - (89)
At 31 December 2012 3,140 730 156 (269) 349 4,106
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Non-distributable reserves comprise associate reserves of €589m, group reserves of €51m,
other comprehensive income of €(1,243)m after tax, non-distributable reserves associated
with the contribution of Canada and Brazil of €371m, and non-distributable deficits
associlated with current year acquisitions of €(37)m, equivalent 2011 values are €591m,
€51m, €(1,008)m and €371m respectively The charge to other comprehensive income
increase of €235m 1n the Group, 15 caused by an increase of €226m from subsidianes and an
mcrease of €9m from associates The movement m 'Other’ 1s predominantly the transfer of
reserves to a non-distributable category in the group’s French subsidiaries and the equity
basis accounting of cash flow hedges

Share Share Currency Non- Retained
caputal premium  translation distributable  earn/ acc Total
reserve reserves deficit

€m €m €m €m €m €m
At 1 January 2011 3,140 109 (157) 93) 687 3,686
Dividend to parent - - - - (75) (75)
Net result - - - - 201 201
Associate Income - - - 114 (114) -
Associate Dividend - - - (43) 43 -
Other comprehensive income - - - (442) - (442)
Equity Contributions - 621 6 37 (394) 604
Other - - - 20 ($3)] l
Translation diff - - 396 - - 396
At 31 December 2011 3,140 730 245 (73) 329 4,371

40. Commitments not shown in the balance sheet

The Company has the same contingent lhiabilities as the Group, see note 24

The Company has provided within the terms of section 5(c) of the Companies
(Amendment) Act 1986 of Ireland irrevocable guarantees in respect of Xerox Holdings
(Ireland) Limited, Xerox (Europe) Limited, Xerox XF Holdings (Ireland) Limited and
Xerox (Ireland) Limited 1n respect of all of thewr habilities for the whole of the financial
year ending 31 December 2012. These guarantees do not extend to any lhability or
commutment, which may have ansen otherwise than in respect of that financial year or
which constitute a hability or loss within the meaning of section 5(c) of the Companies
(Amendment) Act, 1986 of Ireland. At 31 December 2012, the liabiliies of these
companies were assessed at €0 mullion, €30 mullion, €666 mullion and €25 mullion
respectively (2011- €0 mulion, €25 mullion, €877 million and €17 million)

The Company has filed at the Trade Registry a declaration, as meant in Section 403,1 sub
f of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code, that 1t assumes joint and several liability for
any liabilities ansing from the legal acts of the following Dutch Group companies

- Xerox (Nederland) B V reg nr 33085653

- Xerox Rentalease B V ,reg nr 33181169 merged with Xerox (Nederland)’
December 2012

- Xerox Services B.V , reg nr 33304581

- Xerox Document Supplies B.V , reg nr 33276409

- Veco Beheer Onroerend Goed B.V , reg nr 33182162

- Xerox Financial Services B V , reg nr 34166350

- Veenman B V. reg. nr 24026942
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Veenman Financial Services B V, reg, nr 33171510

Xerox Manufactunng (Nederland} B V.reg nr 12012440

Xerox Office Printing Distnibution B V, reg nr 12023780

Xerox Holding (Nederland) B.V , reg nr 12015791

XC Global Trading B V., reg nr. 30257981

Affihated Computer Services Intermational B V, reg nr 34160388
Affihated Computer Services (Netherlands) B V ,reg nr 27142777
Wilhaave Groep B V., reg nr 32096889

Unamic Holding B V , reg nr 32097341

Unamue/HCN B V, reg nr 34139814

ACS HR Solutions Nederland B V., reg Nr. 24382839

The Company has agreed to file a statutory guarantee under section 479C of the UK
Companies Act 2006 for each of the subsidiary companies listed below of all outstanding
habilittes to which the individual subsidiary 1s subject at the end of the 2012 financial
year As a consequence of the guarantee, the subsidiaries are exempt from the UK
statutory requirement for their accounts to be audited under section 479A of the UK
Companies Act 2006.

Xerox Finance Limited, registration number 330755

Xerox UK Holdings Limited, registration number 3545477

Xerox Overseas Holdings Limited, registration number 3275267

Xerox Property Services Limuted, registration number 01811310

Wireless Data Services Limited, registration number 1714719

ACS Worldwide Lending Limited, registration number 5470127

ACS Information Technologies UK Limited, registration number 01980455
Syan Holdings Limited, registration number 01878187

On 27 April 2000, Xerox Investments Europe BV entered into a financial Support
Agreement with Xerox Holdings (Ireland) Limited, which n tumn entered into a financial
Support Agreement with Xerox (Europe) Limited These Support Agreements permit
Xerox Holdings (Ireland) Limited and Xerox {Europe) Limited to obtain financial support
from Xerox Investments Europe BV and Xerox Holdings (Ireland) Limited respectively as
necessary to enable them to pay their debts as they fall due No claims under these Support
Agreements have been made since the Agreements were signed

41. Directors’ remuneration

For 2012, the total remuneration received by the Company’s duwectors paid by group
companies was €328,494 (2011 €332,308).
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42. Stock Options

(A) The Directors stock options and holdings in Xerox Corporation, where applicable, are

®)

set out below

Stock Opnions Summary
Holding at Options  Options Holding at
1 Jan 12 or on granted/ Tost/ Options 31 Dec12or
Shares appointment  share split expired exercised on resignation
G R Kabureck 68,500 - (68,500) - 0
R K P Martens 0 - - - 0
SIMG. Poels 500 - (500) - 0
Stock Holding Summary Common Series ‘B’
stock par convertible
value US $1.00 preferred
Shares holding stock
G R Kabureck a 70,442 -
b 121,073 -
R K P Martens a 7,144 -
b 9,238 -
SIMG Pcels a 4,731 -
b 4,689 -

a Holding at 31 December 2012 or resignation
b Holding at 31 December 2011 or on appointment

Group Employees
The Employees stock options and holdings in Xerox Corporation are set out below
Stock Options Summary Average Option
Stock Options price $
Outstanding 1 January 2012 1,445,080 9
Granted - -
Transfers (1,361,995) 9
Cancelled (26,403) 10
Exercised - -
Outstanding 31 December 2012 56,682 6

The Canadian companies have no outstanding stock options i 2012 Transfers
represent staff holding stock options assigned to companies outside of the XIE B V,
group who were previously working within Europe and vice-versa
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Stock Options at End 2012 by Year of Expiry

Year of Expiry Numbers Value of Weighted Avg

Of options Options § Price $
2019 56,682 358,797 6
Total 56,682 358,797 6

Stock Options and Long-term Incentive Plans Xerox has discontinued its incentive
programmes which 1ssued unapproved stock options Stock options previously granted
generally vested 1n three years and expire between eight and ten years from the date of
grant The exercise price of the options 1s equal to the market value of the common
stock on the effective date of grant

The stock appreciation rights were all cancelled during the year as shown i part(B)
above (2011 $26,403).

In addition to the above are Restricted Stock Units (RSUs). Essentially, these are a
promise to receive a pre-specified number of Xerox Corporation shares on a pre-
specified date subject to certain conditions being met These are effectively a stock gift
to employees and so have a grant price of zero

The following are movements in RSUs i the year.

Numbers
Outstanding 1 January 2012 7,535,443
Granted 3,539,687
Transfers (308,716}
Cancelled (167,295)
Released (2,618,612)
Outstanding 31 December 2012 7,980,507
Year of Vesting
2013 2,281,224
2014 2,234,298
2015 3,464,985
Total 7,980,507

The detailed accounting iumpacts 1n equity relating o accruals for share based
payments are recorded in Xerox Corporation as 1t 18 Xerox shares which are used. As
the costs associated with providing the compensation crystallise they are recharged to
the subsidiary whose employees received the benefits In 2012, Xerox Corporation
made charges of $18 3m (2011 $16 4m) or €14 1m (2011 . €11 8m} mn this respect to
the XIE B.V group of companies
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43, Average workforce analysed by type of work

The Company had no employees during the year under review

44. Auditors’ remuneration

Reference 1s made to note 30 in the consolidated financial statements.

45. Post-Balance Sheet Events

During the second quarter 2013, the company sold its Canadian paper business and
entered into an agreement to sell the European paper business The decision to exit
from the paper distribution business was largely the result of management's objective
to focus more on services and mnovative document technology MNet proceeds from the
sale of the Canadian paper business was approximately €8m.

The sale of the European paper business to Antalis International S A S, which 1s
subject to customary closing conditions and regulatory clearances, 1s expected to be
completed in the fourth quarter of 2013 The total net assets held for sale of Canadian
and European business were approximately €23m and a net pre-tax loss of €17m for
the disposition of the Paper businesses is expected. The disposals are expected to
reduce the headcount by approximately 300 employees, primarily in Europe
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Breukelen, 27 September, 2013

The Board of Directors,

JH Mancmm
Member of the Board of Directors

R K P Martens
Member of the Board of Directors

SIMG. Poels
Member of the Board of Directors
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OTHER INFORMATION

Rights and obligations of the Class A and B shares

The Company’s authorised share capital 1s divided mnto 20,000,000 shares with a nominal
value of €259.52 each, divided into 15,000,000 class A shares and 5,000,000 class B shares

In respect of the 1ssue of a certain class of shares, a repayment may be made or a release
may be given exclusively in respect of such shares, for such shares the repayment or release
must be made pro rata to these shares The pro rata requirement may be waived if all
shareholders concerned so agree

A dividend reserve as well as a share premmum reserve, bearing the same letter as the
relevant class of shares are provided for in Articles 20 and 20A of the Company’s Articles
of Association.

Contrary to the rule that each share entitles the holder thereof to cast one vote, sIx votes are
conferred on the holder of class A shares and one vote 15 conferred on the holder of class B
shares with regard to resolutions of the general meeting conceming appointment, suspension
or removal of a member of the Company’s management board, if all class A shares are held
by one person and all class B shares are also held by one person as provided for in Article 23
of the Company’s Articles of Association

Profit appropriation

No dividend was paid during 2012. The Directors propose to appropniate the 2012 result to
distributable retained earnings

Extract from Articles of Association relating to profit appropriation:
Article 20 Profits

1 A dividend reserve bearing the same letter as the relevant class of share will be kept
for the benefit of the holders of those shares for each class of share If and to the
extent the profits permit this, a sum equivalent to the percentage of the relevant
dividend reserve to be described below as of the end of the financial year will be
deducted from the profits and supplemented to each of the dividend reserves If a
dividend reserve fluctuated 1n the course of the financial year, the sum to be
deducted from the profits and supplemented to the reserve will be computed over the
average annual reserve In order to fix the sum to be supplemented to the dividend
reserve, the dividend reserve will be mcreased by the sum with which the dividend
reserve must be supplemented mn conformity with the sixth paragraph, second
sentence  The percentage referred to above is equvalent to half the rate for
promussory discount notes laid down by the Dutch Central Bank (“De Nederlandsche
Bank N V ™), as of the end of the relevant financial year, plus one

2 The general meeting may resolve unanimously to supplement the profits remaining
after the deduction of the sums to be supplemented to the dividend reserve pursuant to
the provisions of the preceding paragraph to the distributable reserves, ;n whole or in
part

3 Any profits which the general meeting does not reserve pursuant to the provisions of
the preceding paragraph will be added to the dividend reserve of a certan class
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of share pro rata to the total sum, including the share prermum, paid up on that class of
share

The general meeting may only resolve to cancel a dividend reserve in favour of
holders of shares of that class of share, in whole or 1n part, at the proposal of the
meeting of holders of that class of share, subject to the provisions of paragraph 7 In
that case, the sum with which the cancellation 1s concerned will be distnbuted to the
holders of shares of that class pro rata to the nommal sum paid up on their
shareholding of that class of share

The general meeting may supplement the dividend reserves of a certain class from the
distributable reserves at any ime These dividend reserves will be supplemented so
that each will be supplemented pro rata to the sums, including the share premuum, paid
up on the shares of that class, without prejudice to the provisions of the sixth
paragraph, second sentence

The general meeting may cancel a dividend reserve in whole or in part in order to
make good any loss If a dividend reserve has been used to make good loss, there will
be no distnibution of dividend other than as a result of the cancellation of a dividend
reserve 1n the matter described m paragraph 4, nor will any sums be reserved or
supplemented to another dividend reserve as long as the sum withdrawn 1 order to
make good that loss has not been supplemented to that dividend reserve This
principle may be derogated from if the general meeting resolves to do so by a majonty
of votes If sums were withdrawn for more than one dividend reserve in order to make
good a loss, the sum to be supplemented, as descnbed n the second sentence of
paragraph 5, will be supplemented pro rata to the withdrawals

Supplements to or distibutions from the profits may be made only to a maximum of
the distributable portion of the shareholders’ equity

Supplements to or distributions from the profits may be made only after the adoption
of the annual accounts, providing evidence that they are permussible

The general meeting may resolve to make distributions to the debat of a reserve which
does not need to be mamtamned 1n law, with the application, mutatis mutandis, of the
provisions of paragraph 7.

Shareholders’ claims to a distribution will lapse after a period of five years

Auditor’s report

The Auditor’s Report 1s mncluded on the next pages of this Annual Report
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Independent auditor's report

To- the general meeting of Xerox Investments Europe BY

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 2012 of Xerox Investments Europe B.V ,
Breukelen, which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheet as at 31 December 2012, the
consolidated and company profit and loss aceount for the year then ended and the notes, compnsing a
summary of accounting policies and other explanatory information

Board of directors’ responsibility

The board of directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentaton of these financial
statements and for the preparation of the directors’ report, both in accordance with Part g of Book 2 of
the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, the board of directors is responsible for such internal control as it
determines is necessary to enable the preparatton of the financial statements that are free from
matenal misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted cur audrt in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing, This
requires that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtamn
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s yudgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
company’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpase of expressing an opimon
on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also indludes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estumates made by
the board of directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtamed is sufficient and appropnate to ﬁmvxde a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion

Ia our cpimion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of

Xerox Investments Europe B.V. as at 31 December 2012, and of 1ts result for the year then ended in
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civit Code.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Pursuant to the legal requrement under Section 2: 393 sub 5 at e and f of the Dutch Civil Code, we
have no deficiencies to report as a result of our examination whether the directors’ report, to the extent
we can assess, has been prepared 1n accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of this Code, and whether the
information ag required under Section 2: 392 sub 1 at b-h has been annexed Further we report that
the directors’ report, to the extent we can assess, is consistent with the financizl statements as required
by Section 2: 391 sub 4 of the Dutch Civil Code

Amsterdam, 27 September 2013
PrnicewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V

Original has been signed by JW M Schuyt RA
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